1989

# K & K Insurance Agency v. Salt Lake Typewriter, Inc., a Utah corporation : Brief of Appellant

Utah Court of Appeals

## **JURISDICTION**

This appeal is taken pursuant to Utah Code Annotated 78-2(a)-3(2)(c) as amended 1988, and Rules 3 and 4 of the Rules of the Utah Court of Appeals.

## **NATURE OF PROCEEDINGS**

This appeal is taken from Summary Judgment entered against the Appellant in the Third Circuit Court, State of Utah, Salt Lake County, Salt Lake Department, and denial of Appellant's Motion to Alter, Amend or Vacate, made pursuant to Rule 59, Utah Rules of Civil Procedure.

## **STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL**

Was the granting of Plaintiff's motion for Summary Judgment improper and prejudicial error in that there existed and were placed before the court genuine issues of material fact?

Did the refusal of the Circuit Court to vacate the Summary Judgment by granting Appellant's Rule 59 Motion supported by uncontradicted affidavits constitute abuse of discretion and error?

## **DETERMINATIVE CONSTITUTIONAL PROVISIONS AND STATUTES**

This case is governed by select provisions of the Uniform Commercial Code, U.C.A §70A, et seq., contained in Addendum "A" of this brief and Rule 60(b), Utah Rules of Civil Procedure.

## **STATEMENT OF THE CASE**

This case is governed by the special rules of the Uniform Commercial Code respecting the sale of goods. Respondent filed a complaint in the Third Circuit Court alleging that a Hermes 51 Typewriter purchased following a 90 day trial period on July 29, 1987, was defective. Respondent's complaint stated two counts as grounds for relief. Both counts sought relief under §70A-2-608. Respondent subsequently filed a Motion for Summary Judgment, which was heard by the court on October 12, 1988, and granted at that time. Appellant then filed a Motion to Alter, Amend or Vacate, which was heard on December 14, 1988 and denied at that time. Appellant's Motion to Alter, Amend or Vacate tolled the applicable period of time for appeal of the Summary Judgment granted on October 12, 1988, pursuant to the holding in Hume v. Small Claims Court, 590 P.2d 309 (Utah 1979). Appellant timely filed the present appeal following the denial of its Motion to Alter, Amend or Vacate.

#### STATEMENT OF FACTS

K & K Insurance (Plaintiff) purchased a Hermes 51 typewriter from Salt Lake Typewriter (Defendant) which was delivered on or about March 30, 1987. (Complaint para. 7) Plaintiff paid for the typewriter on or about July 29, 1987, after the trial period of ninety (90) days had lapsed. Plaintiff has retained the possession and use of the Hermes 51 typewriter since delivery to date.

At the hearing for Summary Judgment, Defendant's counsel, then Mr. Hunt, identified the issues of material fact before the court regarding rejection within a reasonable time and seasonable notification of the rejection:

Mr. Hunt: If the Court please, the Commercial Code uses the term rightfully rejected or rightfully rescinded. This machine was in use something over half a year before there even was a letter.

TSJ at 7.

Plaintiff claimed it experienced problems with the subject typewriter. (Complaint para. 11, T. 5-6 on Motion for Summary Judgment, hereinafter "TSJ") After inspection, it was determined that the complaints and problems were connected to the power supply at Plaintiff's office then located at 654 South 900 East, Salt Lake City, Utah. Defendant had no control over the power source or its stability. A surge protector was recommended to solve the problem. (See statement of Donald Thompson, attached as addendum "B") Plaintiff determined that the surge protector was too expensive and sent it back to Salt Lake Typewriter without using or paying for it.

Plaintiff, (K & K Insurance) moved its office from its old location to its present location in October, 1987. Defendant was not made aware that Plaintiff claimed the problems with the typewriter continued until receiving a letter dated February 29, 1988, some five (5) months after Plaintiff moved its offices. Plaintiff claimed that it sent a letter to Defendant dated February 5, 1988 which was in fact sent by Plaintiff to itself and signed by their own employee, Mary Strang. Defendant disputes and denies having ever received this letter.

From approximately February 29, 1988 to March 23, 1988, Defendant was not given access to the equipment to determine if a problem existed, and if one did, the nature of the problem. Calls were made by Mr. Sanders, President of Salt Lake Typewriter, to Mr. Kauffman of K & K



Insurance in an attempt to arrange an appointment to have the equipment inspected, determine if there was a problem and if one existed have it corrected. Each time Mr. Sanders was told that he would have to talk to Mr. Kauffman directly, although Mr. Kauffman was not available.

Shortly after the hearing of October 12, 1988 on Plaintiff's Motion for Summary Judgment, Defendant, by its President, Mr. Sanders, made a surprise visit to the business office of K & K Insurance Company to view the Hermes 51 typewriter. He was accompanied by L. Keith Day and Margaret Voyles, both employees of Defendant, Salt Lake Typewriter. This surprise visit revealed that the Hermes 51 typewriter, the subject of this action, was in operating condition and in use by Mary B. Strang, the employee of Plaintiff, K & K Insurance. Mary Strang related to Mr. Sanders that a representative of Associated Business Machines had found a loose wire and fixed it. This information was not disclosed by Plaintiff at the hearing of the Motion for Summary Judgment. (See TSF generally, and affidavits contained in Addendum "C") Mr. Sanders requested Mary Strang to produce a repair bill or invoice showing the repair of the machine, which she could not do. The only explanation was she thought there had been no charge for the repair of the loose wire. Mary Strang also stated to Mr. Sanders that the Hermes 51 typewriter had operated properly from the time Plaintiff moved its office to 4001 South 700 East, Suite 520, Salt Lake City, Utah and the alleged repair of the loose wire. (Addendum "C")

Upon discovering this information, Defendant filed its Rule 59 Motion and supported it by Affidavits. Defendant's Rule 59 Motion was heard by the Court on December 14, 1988. At this hearing, plaintiff's

counsel admitted and acknowledged that the Hermes 51 typewriter was still in possession of plaintiff and in full use. (T. 7, Transcript of Defendant's Motion to Alter, Amend or Vacate, hereinafter "TDM") Defendant's Rule 59 Motion, after it was taken under advisement by the lower Court, Judge Eleanor Van Sciver, was denied, without a Memorandum or explanation.

The conduct of the court in this matter may prove revealing. On commencing the hearing regarding Defendant's Motion to Alter, Amend or Vacate, the court stated in open court, with representatives of Defendant corporation present:

The Court: Now, I suppose I'll take this case that keeps popping up more often than any others first. K&K Insurance Agency vs. Salt Lake Typewriter.

This is your motion Mr. Fankhauser?

Mr. Fankhauser: Yes, it is, your Honor.

The Court: I see Mr. Hunt got tired of this case and withdrew.

TDM at 2. This raises an issue of whether or not the court properly used the remedy of Summary Judgment to dispose of cases which present no issues of genuine material fact and can be disposed of as a matter of law, or whether or not summary judgment was used to dispose of what the court improperly felt was a nuisance.

### SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Summary Judgment acts as a harsh remedy which should only be employed in cases where there clearly is no genuine issue of material fact which should go to trial by the trier of fact. Because of its harsh result, it

should be employed cautiously by the court and all doubts should be resolved in favor of the party moved against, in this case the appellant. This case involved sections of the Uniform Commercial code which refer to rejection within a "reasonable time" which are "seasonably" tendered. These terms raise issues of fact regarding the timing and manner of rejection of goods. Whether or not a rejection is timely and seasonably noticed depends entirely upon the circumstances and facts surrounding the transaction, the nature of the goods and the customs of the trade or industry. This case does not involve the lapse of a statute of limitations or the time for filing an answer or some other statutory provision which states a fixed period of time. We are dealing here with notions of "reasonableness" and "Seasonableness". These are genuine issues of material fact which cannot be disposed of properly by summary judgment. Indeed, it is difficult to conceive of factual issues which are more material and which are in dispute.

Following the entry of summary judgment, Appellant's representatives paid a surprise visit to the offices of Respondent. The visit had to be a surprise since Respondent had repeatedly denied Appellant access to its facilities. New facts were brought to the attention of Appellant which were known by Respondent at the time judgment had been entered. These facts were of such a nature that Appellant filed a motion pursuant to Rule 59, Utah Rules of Civil Procedure, in order to correct what appeared to be a serious misrepresentation practiced upon the court by Respondent. Appellant learned that, not only had there never been a serious problem with the machine in question, but that it had and was completely functional and in active use by Respondent. This fact was not discoverable by Appellant prior to or during trial, since Respondent had denied Appellant

access to its facilities repeatedly and Respondent had always maintained, since the filing of its Complaint that the machine was not functional. Furthermore, there had never been a "trial" as such, but only a hearing for Summary Judgment, and Appellant could not therefore discover anything by due diligence prior to "trial". The serious nature of these allegations, supported as they were by new uncontested affidavits required the court to reexamine the order and summary judgment entered earlier. Failure to do so constituted an abuse of discretion and prejudicial error. The failure of the court to reexamine these issues by proceeding to trial further substantiates the apparent prejudice of the court toward the Appellant, as evidenced by the court's remarks at the commencement of the hearing of Defendant's Rule 59 Motion.

This court should reverse and remand for new trial on all issues, and grant Appellant its costs together with any and all other remedies determined to be fit and proper.

## POINT I

THE GRANTING OF SUMMARY JUDGMENT WAS IMPROPER SINCE THE UNIFORM COMMERCIAL CODE PROVISION RAISE GENUINE ISSUES OF MATERIAL FACT REGARDING THE TIMING OF RESPONDENT'S REJECTION AND NOTIFICATION OF REJECTION.

The standards under which a motion for Summary Judgment should be granted are clearly set forth in Utah law. There must be no genuine issue of material fact which requires trial by the trier of fact. If even a doubt exists as to whether or not there is a material issue of fact, then the case must go to trial. (See Bowen v. City of Riverton, 656 P.2d 434 (Utah 1982); Lucky Seven Rodeo Corporation v. Clark, 755 P.2d 750 (Utah App.

1988); Western Pacific Transport v. Beehive State Agricultural Co-op, 597 P.2d 854 (Utah 1979); Foster v. Steed, 432 P.2d 60 (Utah 1967); Controlled Receivables Inc., v. Harman, 413 P.2d 807 (Utah 1966); Durham v. Margetts, 571 P.2d 1332 (Utah 1977). Furthermore, this Court, pursuant to the applicable standard of review must liberally construe all factual allegations in a light most favorable to Appellant, and if there appears to be a single issue of material fact. (Oberhansly v. Sprouse, 751 P.2d 1155 (Utah App. 1988)). The disputed material fact in this case was raised by the very statute itself under which Respondent claimed relief. The Uniform Commercial Code, as we shall see, raises issues of fact by referring to a rightful rejection or revocation of acceptance that is made within a "reasonable time" based upon "seasonable" notice. By invoking this section of the Code, Respondent raised an immediate material issue of fact which could not be properly disposed of by means of Summary Judgment.

The Complaint alleged a rightful revocation of Respondent's acceptance of the Hermes 51 Typewriter under the provision of U.C.A. §70A-2-608, et seq. This section states in part that:

(2) Revocation of acceptance must occur within a **reasonable time** after the buyer discovers or should have discovered the ground for it and before any substantial change in condition of the goods which is not caused by their own defects. It is not effective until the buyer notifies the seller of it.

(3) A buyer who so revokes has the same rights and duties with regard to the goods involved as if he had rejected them.

U.C.A §70A--608 (2) et seq., emphasis added. The rightful rejection of goods referred to in subsection (3) above is addressed in §70A-2-602, et seq., which states in part:

(1) Rejection of goods must be within a reasonable time after their delivery or tender. It is ineffective unless the buyer seasonably notifies the seller.

U.C.A §70A--602 (1). The Uniform Commercial code further defines what is meant by a reasonable rejection and a seasonable notification of rejection under these provisions:

(2) What is a reasonable time for taking any action depends on the nature, purpose and circumstances of such action.

(3) An action is taken "seasonably" when it is taken at or within the time agreed or if no time is agreed at or within a reasonable time.

U.C.A. 70A-1-204 et seq. If the revocation of an acceptance of goods is to be effective, and therefore result in the creation of rights of recovery of sums paid and damages to Plaintiff/Respondent, such revocation must fit the terms and rules of rightful rejection under the Uniform Commercial Code. The rejection, in order to be rightful, must be timely, that is made within a reasonable time and based upon seasonable notification of the rejection. The Utah Supreme Court addressed these issues in the case of Christopher v. Larson Ford Sales, 557 P.2d 1009 (Utah 1976). The court stated that:

What constitutes "a reasonable time" for return and request for rescission under [§70-2-608] is usually a question of fact to be determined from the circumstances of each case.

Christopher at 1012. See also Lanners v. Whitney, 428 P.2d 398 (Or.).

All relief requested by Respondent in its Complaint were premised upon a timely revocation and rejection of the typewriter under the Uniform Commercial Code. Whether or not the attempted rejection, which took place over half a year after the purchase of the machine following a 3 month trial period was or was not reasonable depends on several factual determinations.

First, the court must consider the customs of the industry; there was a 90-day warranty on the machine which may serve to set the bounds of reasonableness in this matter. Second, this was a transaction between merchants who had a history of dealings with each other. Third, the alleged notification came several months following the purchase of the machine. Fourth, when did the problem show up? Fifth, was the problem attributable to the location of the company, or to the burden placed upon the power supply at that location? Sixth, exactly when did the alleged tender of revocation occur? Seventh, what was the exact cause of the machine's dysfunction? All of these elements address the reasonableness of the timing of the revocation. The purposes of these provisions are to guarantee that a buyer cannot purchase a machine and then use it for its anticipated lifetime and thereafter "reject" it because it developed a functional problem. The granting of summary judgment under these conditions effectively undermines the rationale behind the Uniform

Commercial Code. There were in fact issues of material fact regarding the timeliness of the revocation and notification of the same.

Respondent objected pursuant to Rule 56(e), Utah Rules of civil Procedure, to the form of the affidavit of Odell Sanders, which was filed in a timely manner. The Utah Supreme Court addressed the sufficiency of affidavits supporting or opposing motions for Summary Judgment in Lucky Seven at 752:

One sworn statement under oath is all that is needed to dispute the averments on the other side of the controversy and create an issue of fact, precluding the entry of summary judgment.

The affidavit of Odell Sanders provides disputed facts in excess of that required under either Rule 56 or Lucky Seven. The cover sheet to the affidavit states that Mr. Sanders is a fully trained expert in the installation, repair and maintenance of the Hermes electronic typewriter sold to the Respondent. He made statements under oath based upon personal knowledge of the events in question. Aside from the most obvious issue of material fact in this case (whether or not the amount of time that lapsed before an alleged notice of revocation of acceptance or rejection under the UCC), Mr. Sanders raises the following issues specifically. The equipment: 1) was in service for over one year; 2) was used continually without proper surge protection; 3) was relocated by the customer to another location where the local power supply to the building was different; 4) was moved to another location by the customer without proper packing; 5) was installed by the customer at the new location and not by trained personnel. Any one of these factors could be responsible for the alleged malfunctioning



of the machine, and not some alleged latent defect. The affidavit of Mr. Sanders was more than sufficient to raise serious issues of material fact. The court improperly granted summary judgment. The case should be remanded for proceedings in keeping with the letter and the spirit of the Uniform Commercial Code.

## POINT II

THE COURT ERRED IN NOT GRANTING DEFENDANT'S MOTION TO ALTER, AMEND OR VACATE PURSUANT TO RULE 59 OF THE UTAH RULES OF CIVIL PROCEDURE.

Rule 59 provides the grounds upon which a motion for new trial should be granted:

(a) Grounds Subject to the provisions of Rule 61, a new trial may be granted to all or any of the parties and on all or part of the issues, for any of the following causes: . . .

(4) Newly discovered evidence, material for the party making the application, which could not, with reasonable diligence, have discovered and produced at trial.

Rule 59, Utah Rules of Civil Procedure. Although Appellant is not alleging a fraud on the part of Respondent, there was clear evidence of active and knowing misrepresentations made by Respondent at and before the hearing on Summary Judgment. The issue now before this court has been framed in several Utah cases. The granting of a motion for a new trial based upon newly discovered evidence must be founded upon material evidence which could not have been discovered by reasonable diligence

which is of such a nature that the outcome would have been different below. (Universal Inv. Co. v. Carpets, Inc., 400 P.2d 564 (Utah 1965); Gregerson v. Jensen, 617 P.2d 369 (Utah 1980); Doty v. Town of Cedar Hills, 656 p.2d 993 (Utah 1982); Kettner v. Snow, 375 P.2d 28 (Utah 1962);) Appellant exercised that diligence required by a case of this type in discovering the issues of fact and law to be resolved at trial. This included the production of affidavits and other competent evidence. Since the problem was one of misrepresentation, Appellant argues that due diligence would likely resulted not in discovery of the complete operational condition of the machine, but would probably have resulted in further misrepresentations. The only reason that the functional condition of the machine was discovered was because of a "surprise" visit to Respondent's place of business. Appellant there discovered that not only was the machine functional then, but had been functional all along. Because Respondent's entire complaint was premised upon the existence of a non-functional machine it is difficult to imagine how these facts could not create a different result than that achieved at the hearing for Summary Judgment. Therefore, Appellant was entitled to a new trial at which the functionality of the machine could be addressed. The court below wrongfully denied this motion in the face of new evidence which was uncontroverted, and which addressed the propriety and integrity of the most essential facts of the Complaint. This case should therefore be remanded with sufficient instructions to allow Appellant a fair trial of the issues and facts.