1989

K & K Insurance Agency v. Salt Lake Typewriter, Inc., a Utah corporation : Brief of Respondent

Utah Court of Appeals

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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The court properly granted summary judgment when considering affidavits that were untimely presented by S. L. Typewriter as well as the affidavit which was presented and failed to comply with Rule 56(e) for the proper form of an admissible affidavit. The court subsequently, when the affidavits were attempted to be re-introduced, properly denied S. L. Typewriter's Rule 59 motion to amend, alter or vacate summary judgment.

The court properly concluded that there were no genuine issues of fact and appropriately entered summary judgment against S. L. Typewriter.

This case involves revocation of acceptance under the

Uniform Commercial Code 70A-2-608. The Appellant argued and still insists that there must be rejection within a reasonable time. A buyer may revoke his acceptance of goods whose non-conformity substantially impairs its value to him if he has accepted it on the reasonable assumption that its non-conformity would be cured and it has not been seasonably cured or without discovery of such nonconformity if his acceptance was reasonably induced either by the difficulty of discovery before acceptance or by the seller's assurances. This court properly found that K & K accepted the typewriter with the assurance of S. L. Typewriter, that it would be made to work properly by a surge protector or otherwise, and S. L. Typewriter ignored or refused to make the typewriter operate properly. Another repairman repaired a broken wire at no charge. This fact was clearly represented to the court at the summary judgment hearing on October 12, 1988 as the record reflects.

The Appellant's argument of a "surprise" visit and discovery that the typewriter was operating after the October 12, 1988, summary judgment hearing has absolutely no merit. There was no surprise, no concealment of material facts and no newly discovered evidence. S. L. Typewriter re-argued a motion it had already lost and attempted to present affidavits whose admission was already denied because they were untimely. S. L. Typewriter failed even in its second attempt on its Rule 59 motion and still fails to set forth specific facts showing that there is a genuine issue for trial.

ARGUMENT

POINT I.

THE GRANTING OF SUMMARY JUDGMENT WAS PROPER SINCE THE APPELLANT FAILED TO TIMELY FILE ANY AFFIDAVITS OR MATERIALS TO SHOW THAT THERE WAS A MATERIAL ISSUE OF FACT FOR TRIAL.

When a party opposes a properly supported motion for summary judgment and fails to file any responsive affidavits or other evidentiary materials allowed by Subdivision (e) of Rule 56, the trial court may properly conclude that there are no genuine issues of fact unless the face of the movant's affidavit affirmatively discloses the existence of such an issue. Franklin Financial v. New Empire Development Co., 659 P.2d 1040 (Utah 1983); Cowen and Co., v. Atlas Stock Transfer Co., 695 P.2d 109 (Utah 1984); Busch Corp v. State Farm Fire & Cas., 743 P.2d 109 (Utah 1987).

In support of its motion for summary judgment, K & K set forth the material facts supported by the affidavit of Mary B. Strang.

At the hearing for motion for summary judgment, K & K argued "Revocation of Acceptance" under Section 70A-2-608 U.C.A. (1953, as amended) Uniform Commercial Code. (Addendum A attached hereto). Sec. 70A-2-608 states:

- "(1) The Buyer may revoke his acceptance of a lot or commercial unit whose nonconformity substantially impairs its value to him if he has accepted it
 - (a) on the reasonable assumption that its nonconformity would be cured and it has not been seasonably cured; or
 - (b) without discovery of such nonconformity if his acceptance was reasonably induced either

- by the difficulty of discovery before acceptance or by the seller's assurances.
- (2) Revocation of acceptance must occur within a reasonable time after the buyer discovers or should have discovered the ground for it and before any substantial change in condition of the goods which is not caused by their own defects. It is not effective until the buyer notifies the seller of it.

K & K, after purchase of the typewriter, found that it had unknown defects. The seller, S. L. Typewriter, insisted that additional equipment be purchased to wit: a surge protector. K & K purchased the surge protector and yet the typewriter continued to malfunction. S. L. Typewriter was called to service the machine and was never able to fix it although S. L. Typewriter promised to remedy the situation.

After each failure to cure the defect, S. L. Typewriter would say that the problem was something else and that S. L. Typewriter would fix on their next trip. Even after the typewriter was supposedly fixed, it would fail to function. The typewriter sat idle for months, except for periodic attempts of S. L. Typewriter to repair it.

Only after S. L. Typewriter refused to repair the typewriter any longer did K & K realize that the (\$2,977.92) Two Thousand Nine Hundred Seventy-Seven Dollars and Ninety-Two Cents spent on the typewriter was wasted. K & K revoked its acceptance after learning that S. L. Typewriter would no longer attempt to cure the defects that kept the machine from functioning. It was reasonable that K & K assume that S. L. Typewriter would be able to repair the typewriter. K & K had been assured by S. L. Typewriter that only more time was needed to cure the defect. S.

L. Typewriter never did cure the defect. K & K notified S. L. Typewriter within a reasonable time after it became apparent that S. L. Typewriter either could not, or would not, repair the typewriter. The Uniform Commercial Code recognizes the problem of recovering payments for rejected goods. K & K, by revoking its acceptance of a defective typewriter, is entitled to the remedies of Sec. 70A-2-711. K & K under Utah law and the Uniform Commercial Code, is entitled to judgment as a matter of law. (See Lockhart v. Anderson, 646 P.2d 678 (Utah 1982)).

While there may exist minor disputes between the facts proposed by the papers, there exists no genuine factual dispute. Recently, the United States Supreme Court clarified the "genuine factual issue" under Rule 56 of the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure, which is identical to Utah's Rule 56. In Anderson v. Liberty Lobby, 477 U.S. 242, 106 S. Ct. 2505, 91 L.Ed.2d 202 (1986) the court stated:

"Rule 56 (e) provides that, when a properly supported motion for summary judgment is made, the adverse party' must set forth specified facts showing that there is a genuine issue for trial'... Rule 56 (c) provides that the trial judge shall then grant summary judgment if there is no genuine issue as to any material fact and if the moving party is entitled to judgment as a matter of law. There is no requirement that the trial judge make findings of fact. The inquiry performed is the threshold inquiry of determining whether there is the need for a trial-whether, in other words, there are genuine factual issues that properly can be resolved only by a finder of fact because they may reasonably be resolved in favor of either party...

The judge's inquiry, therefore, unavoidably asks whether reasonable jurors could find, by a preponderance of the evidence that the Plaintiff, is entitled to a verdict - - 'whether there is [evidence]

upon which a jury can properly proceed to find a verdict for the party producing it, upon whom the onus of proof is imposed.'"

The U.C.C. does not allow for excuses from the seller regarding a defect. The buyer has only to prove the defect and revoke acceptance to recover the purchase price. It does not matter how hard S. L. Typewriter tried to cure the defects. It only matters that S. L. Typewriter failed to cure. That was clearly established in the affidavits of Mary B. Strang and Robert D. Kaufman (Addendum D & E) which were uncontroverted.

At the hearing on motion for summary judgment on October 12, 1988, S. L. Typewriter attempted to introduce the affidavit of Donald Thompson (Addendum B, Appellant's brief) which the court rejected as being untimely. Rule 56(c), provides that adverse party, prior to the day of hearing may serve opposing affidavits and Rule 6(d), provides that opposing affidavits may be served not later than (1) one day before the hearing. Accordingly, the court held that the affidavit was untimely filed and disallowed its use at the summary judgment hearing.

The court also had before it the affidavit in opposition to motion for summary judgment executed by Odell L. Sanders.

The court found that this affidavit failed to meet the requirements of Rule 56(e) which are "supporting or opposing affidavits shall be made on personal knowledge, shall set forth such facts as would be admissable in evidence, and shall show affirmatively that the affiant is competent to testify to the matters stated therein". Sworn or certified copies of all papers

or parts thereof referred to in an affidavit shall be attached thereto or served therewith. See also Rainford v. Rytting, 22 Utah 2d 252, 451 P.2d 769 (1969); Treboggan v. Treboggan, 699 P.2d 747 (Utah 1985). The court readily found that the rambling dissertation in letter format dated, April 13, 1988, failed to comply with the requirements of the rule. An affidavit does not comport with the requirements of this rule where it reveals no evidentiary facts but merely reflects the affiant's unsubstantiated opinions and conclusions in regard to the transaction. Walker v. Rocky Mt. Recreation Corp., 29 Utah 2d 274, 508 P.2d 538 (1973). More importantly, S. L. Typewriter failed to set forth any specific facts upon which there was a material dispute or issue for trial which could only lead the judge to the conclusion that there were none and that K & K was entitled to judgment as a matter of law.

POINT II.

THE APPELLANT CONTINUALLY INCORRECTLY ARGUES TIMELINESS OF REJECTION AND NOTIFICATION OF REJECTION UNDER SEC. 70A-2-602 U.C.A. (1953, AS AMENDED), UNIFORM COMMERCIAL CODE, WHEN THE COMPLAINT AND MOTION FOR SUMMARY JUDGMENT BEFORE THE COURT WERE BASED UPON REVOCATION OF ACCEPTANCE UNDER SEC. 70A-2-608 U.C.A. (1953, AS AMENDED), UNIFORM COMMERCIAL CODE.

S. L. Typewriter, at the motion for summary judgment hearing on October 12, 1988, failed to respond to K & K's arguments under Sec. 70A-2-608 Uniform Commercial Code (supra) but rather mistakenly argued Sec. 70A-2-602 and still continues to do so. Revocation of acceptance, was argued by K & K Insurance.

S. L. Typewriter's reliance on Sec. 70A-2-602, which

provides for rejection of goods after their delivery, is misplaced and obviously S. L. Typewriter failed to address the issues raised by 70A-2-608 and gave the trial judge no alternative but to grant K & K's motion for summary judgment.

POINT III

THE COURT CORRECTLY DENIED DEFENDANT'S MOTION
TO ALTER, AMEND OR VACATE PURSUANT TO RULE 59
U.R.C.P. IN THAT THERE WAS NO "SURPRISE" OR NEWLY
DISCOVERED EVIDENCE.

S. L. Typewriter, in its brief, argues that at the hearing on October 12, 1988, that K & K did not make known to the court that on that date the typewriter was operational. This representation is entirely incorrect and contrary to the record which states:

"Now, as recently - - the machine had sat there for some time, in as recently, I believe is two months ago, another repairman came out to fix some other machines. He took the - - got into this machine, and found the bare wire and did fix it but, nonetheless, the U.C.C. provides that upon revocation, we're entitled to our money back.", (R. 105,pg. 10 L. 18-21).

It was upon S. L. Typewriter's claim to non-disclosure of this fact that it claimed it should have been entitled to a new trial or to alter, amend or vacate the previous judgment under Rule 59 which is clearly not the case. There was no newly discovered evidence and there was no fact that was withheld from or misrepresented to the court at the summary judgment hearing on October 12, 1988. S. L. Typewriter's reliance on their "surprise" visit to K & K's place of business did not divulge any new facts which were not already divulged previously to the court. As S. L. Typewriter has failed even as of this date to

list the material facts on which there is a dispute, there are no issues upon which this matter should be tried.

CONCLUSION

The court properly granted motion for summary judgment under Rule 56 when the court had before it a properly executed affidavit of K & K. S. L. Typewriter failed to timely file opposing affidavits and the affidavit that it did file, failed to meet the requirements of Rule 56(e) and the case law which in effect, left K & K's motion for summary judgment unopposed. S.L. Typewriter failed to brief or argue revocation of acceptance under the Uniform Commercial Code but incorrectly argued and continues to argue rejection after delivery.

At the hearing for motion for summary judgment, it was disclosed by K & K that the typewriter, on that date, was operable and there was no misrepresentation or other newly discovered evidence as claimed by S. L. Typewriter in its "surprise" visit. The record totally belies the contentions made by S. L. Typewriter in this regard.